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8th

I haven’t written anything since December thirty-first, but
I did print out some accounts I wrote in May and June.

Monday, January second, I called the Safeway Pharmacy to
have them mail me the two prescriptions, Timoptic Eye drops and
the Neptozane tablets. The pharmacist knows me and always greets
me by name when I go there. I told him I was snowbound. He said
he would mail them right out with the bill. I could send him a
check.

On the same day it appeared that we would have a few days
without drifting snow. So, I started shoveling snow, and cleared
a way through the big drifts between here and the point. Then
drove the Bronco out there and parked it.

Tuesday morning around ten I started shoveling the drifted
snow along the hill down the road. By noon I was nearly half way
to the curve at the bottom of the grade. 1 was ready for a rest,
so, came up and ate lunch, and rested until one-thirty. Then went
back at it again. I drove the Bronco down as far as I had shov-
eled. I thought, "With the Bronco close by, I can always take a
short rest in it out of the cold wind."

I finally made it passed the worst drifts, and saw that I

could go around the curve without shoveling. From there on to the
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dip this side of the lower draw, the wind had swept the road bare
in stretches. In others there was snow, but not too deep to nego-
tiate. I put the square pointed shovel I was using into the Bron-
co, and took off in four-wheel drive in low range. At the dip I
stopped and examined the snow. By sinking the shovel as a gauge,
I was able to determine how much snow I would have to remove.

The drifted snow was packed, and in some places had a sheet
of ice under the last snowfall. I cut out huge blocks of the snow
and threw them to the side. To keep the shoveling at a minimum, I
didn’t go to the ground, but left about ten inches to ground. I
rested several times in the Bronco. I finally drove across the
dip without any trouble.

The next stop was on the hill above the gate where Hair
couldn’t make it with his grader. I examined the condition of the
snow where he had gotten stuck. The drive wheels had spun out and
dug down through the snow and dug holes in the ground. His wheel
tracks were wide apart. I couldn’t use either of them because of
the holes.

I threw a lot of snow out clearing a way for the right width
of the Bronco, and angled it in a direction to avoid the holes.
From there on to the county road, the grader had cleared off the
sSnow.

I drove on down to Carl’s place. When I turned onto his

road, I saw him walking out toward the county road. He had his



January, 1989 3

shotgun and a package of mail. Apparently he was going to walk up
to my place and hunt on the way. I stopped beside him, and told
him how I had shoveled the drifts and made it out to the road. He
gave me the mail. Then said, "You can leave the Bronco here, and
I’11 drive you back up in my pickup."

I said, "Well, I’m not sure you can go passed where the
grader got stuck. I probably won’t make it in the Bronco either.
I711 just leave it and walk up."

He said, "I guess that’s just as well."

I said, "I was thinking of going to town tomorrow, but it
looks like it will be too wet."

"Yes. The road is sloppy now." He started walkiﬁg back to
his house. I backed out to the county road, and headed for home.
Before I started up the first steep grade, I put the four-wheel
drive into high range. When I got to the steep grade where the
grader got stuck, I put it into low range. I made it passed the
holes the grader had made, then the wheels spun out. I tried to
back up, but they still spun.

Getting out I examined the situation of the wheels. The
right wheels were to the right of the wheel tracks I made coming
down. I couldn’t see any reason that the thing wouldn’t roll
bgck, but I dug down in the snow behind the wheels enough that it

looked like it would roll back without any power.
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I climbed in and put it into reverse. It did roll back. T
let it continue to move down to an almost level place in the
road. When I pushed the button for four-wheel drive the indicator
lights didn’t come on. I continued pushing the button, but noth-
ing happened. I finally I started up the hill again going about
fifteen-miles an hour. I kept the wheels in the old wheel tracks.
I went on up the hill, and all the way to the point. After I
parked, I pushed the button to put it into four-wheel drive. The
indicator lights came on. I must have been in two-wheel drive all
the way. I was mighty glad I didn’t have to walk up.

That was Tuesday. Before telling about Wednesday, I shall
recount today’s events.

After reading a story that kept me up until one o’clock. I
went to bed and slept until three-thirty. I got up to read the
barometer. It was 29.94. I wanted to see if it was snowing and
drifting, but I couldn’t see through the ice covered glass, and I
didn’t want to go outside to find out. I would know in the
morning when I went outside.

I went back to bed and slept until seven. I ate breakfast,
then got dressed to go outside. I wore my leather shoes inside my
overshoes. I wore the plastic raincoat with the hood and the
tuque under it. At the weather station the low temperature was

nineteen, and the present temperature was twenty-one. I was
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thankful for the raincoat and hood. I waded in snow up to my
knees.

I brought in the rain gauge and melted the snow in it. The
precipitation came to only four-hundredth of an inch. That meant
only a half inch of snow. The wind last night must have blown the
snow horizontally so only a small amount got into the gauge. I
took the gauge back, came in and wrote down the weather condi-
tions ready to report it to the net.

The phone rang. It was George. He usually calls on Saturday,
and I was surprised he called so early today. I gave him the run-
down on the weather, the shoveling of the snow, getting down the
hill, and going to town Wednesday. He was glad I stocked up on
groceries, because last week I had told him about being snow-
bound.

The weather in Florida was warm with sunshine. He bought
himself an electric spelling helper. I didn’‘t get a clear picture
of it, but it seems to have a keyboard. You type a word and it
tells you if it is wrong or right. If it is wrong I displays a
word that might be right. If you aren’t satisfied, it displays
another word. So, you have two choices for the right spelling. At
least it tells you the word was spelled wrong. If you’re not sat-
isfied with the two choices, you can look it up in a regular dic-

tionary. It has eighty-thousand words in its dictionary.
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I described a little of how First Choice worked. Then he
talked about how the income taxes on the rich are coming down
while those on the poor are going up. Before the war he never
paid income tax. The rich paid all the income tax.

"Well," he said, "by this time next year I’11 be pushing up
daises." On that note we said our goodbyes.

I checked into the weather net just before Dave closed it.
He said, "I wondered where you were." When I told him about the
drifting snow even when it wasn’t snowing, He said, "Yes. That’s
a dry snow. We had it in Wyoming."

Not long after, the phone rang again. It was Florence. She
was checking to see how I was doing. "Let us know if you need
anything, and we’ll get it down to you." I thanked her and asked
her how John was. He was out shoveling snow off the sidewalks.

The wind slacked off around three o‘clock. I took the field
glasses with me and walked out to the point. The wind had swept
the ground bare out there. I looked down the road with the glass-
es, and could see the Bronco. There was no snow piled up around
it. The wind was keeping the area nearly clear of snow.

Along the side of the first steep grade to the curve the
snow was deeper than ever. I‘11 have a big job sHoveling snow.

I711 not do anything about the drifts between the dugout and the
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point. The high today was twenty-eight. The weather forecasts
from Idaho predict that warm air from the Pacific will run into
cold air from the north causing freezing rain and snow in parts
of Idaho and Eastern Oregon.

Now at ten thirty, the wind is piling snow up against the
door, and I cant see out if it is snowing. I think it is snowing
from the amount of drifting snow.
9th

I was up at five-thirty, looked outside with the flashlight,
and could see that the snow was melting. At eight o’clock I went
out to the weather station, checked the temperatures, and then
brought in the rain gauge. I had the snow thawed out in it in
time to report it into the weather net.

After nine o’clock, I dialed Social Security with their 800
number. I heard the phone on the other end ringing. Then it
sounded as though someone picked up the receiver, but no one
spoke. I guessed I was put on hold, and waited five minutes. Then
I was cut off and a dial tone came on. I tried two more times.
One time there was a busy signal. The next time I seemed to be
put on hold again, and after a wait I wds cut offi

I dialed the operator and told her my trougle. She asked,
"What phone are you calling from?" I told her. She said, "I’ll

try to get them."
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This time a recording came on. It said, "The personnel are
all busy. You can hold on and wait your turn, or call tomorrow."
I waited a while. Then another recording came on, "You will be
taken care of as soon a service person is available. This is the
last recording you will hear."

I waited and wished I had pulled up a chair. In about five
minutes, I heard a voice ask, "Can I help you?"

I couldn’t believe it, but gave my name and social security
number. "I need to know what the part B premium is on Medicare
this year."

She asked, "Did you start getting Medicare when you were
sixty-five?"

"No. I started getting it July first last year. I’m eighty-
three now." While I was waiting for her to find the information,
I heard someone dialing. I said. "Hello."

Then Ed Davis’ voice said, “"Hello."

I said, "I’m on the line. E4."

"Oh!" and he hung up.

Finally the girl came back on. The new premium was $86.10.
That’s and increase of $19.10. No wonder my SSI check is lower
instead of higher after the cost of living raise.

I could feel that the hassle with the phone affected me. I
lay down to relieve the tension. I slept for a little while, and

woke up refreshed.
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It was time to go down the hill with a shovel to see if I
could clear a way through the drift on the steep grade above the
gate. Then I could drive down and get the mail, and Carl wouldn’t
have to walk up.

I stepped outside with my Jjacket and tuque on. When that
blast of wind hit me, even though the temperature was forty-one
degrees, the chill factor made it feel like a blast from the
North Pole. I went back inside and put my rain coat on over my
jacket, pulled the hood up over my tuque, and tightened the draw-
strings. I still felt cold as I walked out to the point. The
drift near the furnace room was deep, but it had become packed by
the wind, so I didn‘t sink down far.

The drifts along the side hill were still deep. Walking near
the outer edge wasn’t too bad. I used the cane in my right hand,
and carried the shovel over my left shoulder. The two letters I
wanted to mail, I carried under my jacket in a paper bag.

The road was sloppy and bare in stretches. The wind at my
back pushed me forward, so it was easy going, except I had to be
ready for a slip in the slush.

The ground around the Bronco was swept bare. I got in, un-
zipped the raincoat and the jacket, and got out the letters. I
hadn’t sealed the letter to the VA, because I wanted to check the

EVR report again before mailing it. I found that I had left out
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a, none, in one blank place. I went over the report trying to
find a place that asked for the 1989 Medicare premium, but found
no place that asked for it.

Carl came and knocked on the window. I unlocked the door and
he got in. His motorcycle had spun out on the first steep grade,
and he walked the rest of the way.

I said, "I thought of shoveling snow at that bad spot above
the gate, and trying to drive the Bronco down, but it’s so wet I
gave up the idea.”

He said, "There’s a lot of water running down the road under
the snow. You didn’t see my jacket and a pair of gloves lying on
a sagebrush on the way down. Did You?"

"No. I didn’t."

"I left them there the other day, and forgot about them. I
don’t care about the jacket, but I sure miss the gloves. My hands
get cold riding the motorcycle in the wind with these 1light
gloves. 1’11l walk up and get them. They’re only about a mile up.

"That far? That’s a long way to go against the wind in the
snow. 1’11 watch for them on my way back, and take them on up to
the dugout."

"I want to get those gloves. I’1l1l walk up. "

"You go ahead. You’ll probably walk faster than I do. I’11
sit here a while and ponder about this report."

I watched him trudging through the snow. He didn’t seem to

10
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go very fast. I wrote, none, in the blank space, and put the re-
port back into the envelope. Then looking up, I saw Carl stop. It
looked like he was taking off his jacket. But no. The jacket T
saw was the one he had left on the sagebrush. When he said that
it was a mile up the road, I pictured it to be on the side hill
below the point, which is a mile from the Bronco.

He came back and put the jacket into the front seat. "It
wasn’t up as far as I thought. The jacket didn’t get very wet.
Now I’ve got my good gloves, and my hands will be warm going
home." He didn’t get in, but started walking down the hill.

I left the mail sack and the letters in the Bronco, got out
and stuck the shovel up in the snow where it was deep at the side
of the road. Then tightened the drawstrings of the hood, and got
the cane and walking stick out of the Bronco. With the stick in
one hand and the cane in the other, my arms helped propel me up
the hill. I was surprised at how well I did against the wind.

The temperature was up to forty when I took the reading at
six.

Around eight-thirty I phoned Ann to make sure of her ad-
dress. I told her I would call Bruce tomorrow, and if he hadn’t
sent the package yet, I would have him send it direct to her.

She said, "You could use just Frenchglen, but if you want to

you can use ’‘Stoten Ranch, Frenchglen, 97736'"

11
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She said, "I found a program to format a disk. At least I
think I did. Using the prompts, I put a blank disk, one of those
you gave me, into the B drive. The number of the tracks appeared
one at a time, and ended with seventy-nine. I don’t know if I
ruined the disk or not. But I thought I would take a chance."

I said, "No, You couldn’t ruin it. You can format a disk to
take everything on it off. How did you find the formatting pro-
gram?"

"I was looking through the directory of a C/PM disk checking
if there were any programs I could use. Some I couldn’t bring up.

On one named ‘A:copy’ gave you choices. Among them was ‘To for-

mat a disk’."

I learned Leon’s last name:-~ Neuschwander."

I finished editing and printing 21, 22, 23, and 24.
10th

This morning at three-thirty I looked outside using mny
flashlight. It was snowing hard. Although the wind was gusting to
about forty, the snow was too wet to drift much.

At seven I went outside all bundled up in my jacket and
raincoat. There wasn’t much snow jammed against the door, making
it lucky for me, because the shovel was outside. After I got the
shovel, I cleared the foot of snow away from the door, and made a

clear path beyond the drift.

12
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Out at the weather station the snow was pasted against the
windward side of the rain gauge like a sheet of ice. It was the
same way with the shovel handle, the posts, and the trees. The
snow in the gauge melted down to .52 of precipitation, which
meant that there was five inches of new snow. It quit snowing,
and I could see patches of clear sky.

Again Ellis didn’t check into the net. John Scharff called
at nine. He said, "I called the hospital to find out how Vic Ma-
son was. The woman who answered said she couldn’t find any record
of anyone by that name being in the hospital."®

Shortly after ten I called the store in Bend. Betsy an-
swered. Bruce was out and Carolee was home with the flu. She
said, "I had a bout with the flu myself, but I’m over it now."

I gave her Ann’s address. "If Bruce hasn’t mailed the book
yet, have him send it directly to Ann, and send the WordStar book
to me."

She said, "I don’t think he has mailed it yet. I’11 give hinm
the message."

Next I phoned the pharmacist at Safeway about the check com-
ing back in the mail sack.

This afternoon Florence called to say she had talked with
Vic’s wife. Vic is doing fine, is out of intensive care, and in a

private room. I said, "I’11l tell Ellis if I hear him on the air.

13
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I haven’t heard him for a week. His signal isn’t getting out very
good from Yuma."

This afternoon I packed the tapes, called Quick Start for
the Kaypro, in a box ready to mail. It weighed under fourteen
ounces. I phoned the Field’s store to find out how much it would
be to send the package to Frenchglen. Before I got the number
dialed the power went off. I could hear the phone ringing when I
finished dialing. There was no answer.

I started to dial Dora’s number. She would know if the store
was closed. A woman’s voice said,"Hello."

I said, "I'm Jim. To whom am I speaking?"

She gave me her name, but I couldn’t quite hear it. Then I
asked, "Were are you."

"I’'m at the Mann Lake Ranch.

"How did you get on this line?"

"I was calling the Alvord Ranch."

"Oh. I’m on that line."

She said, "The power is off here. I was going to have the
Alvord Ranch call the power company to tell them."

"The power is off here too. I’11 call Dunsmore. She said,
"Thank you."

I called Dunsmore. Mrs. Dunsmore answered. I told her that
the Mann Lake and my power were both out. She said, "I’11 have

the crew get right on it."

14
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I expected that the power would be off for a long time, at
least three for four hours, but it was on in twenty minutes. I
had a feeling that they had been working on the line, and had
pulled a switch to make some connections.

I phoned the store. Julie said that the package would cost
$1.40 to mail. "How is the snow up there."

I told her about the drifts, and leaving the Bronco a mile
down the road where Carl meets me with the mail. He doesn’t have
to walk all the way up here."

I was sorry that I told her about leaving the Bronco down
there, because now everybody around will know, and whoever has
been stealing things might come up and take a wheel or two. Then
worse thoughts entered my mind. They might break a window and
take stuff out from inside. I had left the keys inside when I
locked the door. If they found them, they could drive the Bronco
off somewhere.

I have an extra set of keys in my pocketbook, so I’m not
worried about not getting in the next time I’m down there.

Around three o’clock, a big bunch of snow fell through the
skylight into the bathroom. It broke the plastic that kept the
warm air from escaping. I shoveled it up with the dustpan. It has
a short handle, and can go into small places. The snow filled the

plastic tub. The sides were too weak to withstand it being picked

15
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up. I dragged it out into the living room and transferred the
snow to a bucket which made it easy to carry outside.

I then climbed up over the drifts to the skylight. I thought
that I would have to nail a piece of plywood over the top, and
had a tape measure with me to make measurements. It was difficult
walking on those drifts. Sometimes the crust held me up. At other
times my foot would go down deep.

At the skylight I saw no hole that needed patching. There
was no place to nail a sheet of plywood. I would have to tack up
another piece of plastic down below. I figured that what had hap-
pened was that snow had blown in through small cracks and had
accumulated on top of the upper plastic sheet, and the weight had
torn it loose. Then the snow had plunged down through the other
plastic barriers.

When I checked into the OEN tonight, Ellis Derrell asked for
me. We moved up frequency. He wondered if I had talked to his dad
lately. I said, "No. I haven’t talked with him for a week. His
signals from down there are too weak to get through. I did get a
card from him. He thinks he will be home next week."

Derrell said, "I got a card from him too. He was in Yuma
getting the rear end of his camper fixed where someone ran into

him. I thought maybe he couldn’t use his antenna."

16
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I said, "I talked with him after the accident. That was be-
fore he got to Yuma, so he could use his antenna. The band condi-
tions haven’t been good lately."

"Well, if you talk with him, say I asked about him. We are
all doing fine."

I told him about Vic having an operation.
14th

I got up at six~-fifteen, ate breakfast and went back to bed.
I slept until eight ten. I got up, hurriedly dressed, put the
overshoes on over the Nike-Swoosh shoes, and went out to the
weather station. There was about an inch of new snow, and it had
drifted against the door. I didn’t clear it away until after I
brought in the rain gauge. The snow in it melted down to .11 of
an inch of precipitation. The high yesterday was thirty-seven,
and the low last night twenty.

After reporting the weather to the weather net, I took the
rain gauge out, and started shoveling the snow away from the
door.

The phone rang before I had finished. I hurried inside,
picked up the receiver and said, "Hello."

George asked, "How’s the weather on the Steens Mountain?" I
told him about the weather. He said, "I called Sam this morning.

His weather is like yours-- snow, and ice, and cold."

17
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I said, "He’s in the shadow of the mountain all winter. At
least I get to see the sun at times.®

He said, "Lois is having sinus problems. The doctor gave her
some kind of medication, but I guess it is slow acting." He told
about a local-daily newspaper printing a map of the weather con-
ditions of the whole world in color. If it increases their sales
they’1ll make it a permanent feature.

After talking with George, I finished the job of shoveling
sSnow.

At nine-thirty Florence called asking how I was doing. I
told her that things were fine here, and about leaving the Bronco
down the hill, and Carl Thomas bringing up the mail to where I
was waiting for him in the Bronco.

She wondered if I had talked with Ellis. The temperature
was down to zero in Burns last night. I said, "If I hear from
Ellis I’11 let you know."

I made raisin bread today.

This morning I edited and printed the largest file yet,
28,672 bytes.

I felt uncomfortable this evening. I heard Ellis on the net
say very faintly that he would be home in three or four days. I
went back to bed, and slept a couple of hours. When I got up I
was still feeling not just right. After doing some stretching

exercises I felt better.

18
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15th

I dreamed a lot last night, but cant remember the details.
Mike and mother were in one of them. In another I was talking
with a small-slightly-built man. I said, "I knew you somewhere.
Was it in San Francisco?"

He said, "No. It was in Greenville." Then in the dream I
remembered. When I woke up, I was sure it was no one I ever knew.

I used the phone quite a bit today. I called Florence to let
her know that Ellis would be home in three or four days. I called
the store to make sure there would be no mail today. It was
King’s birthday. I called Lavina to tell her that if she saw Carl
Thomas to let him know there would be no mail. He probably would-
n’t think about King’s birthday. It was also snowing down at
Hair’s.

I phoned the store in Bend. Carolee, Bruce, and Betsy were
all working today. Carolee was getting over her bout with the
flu.

Bruce was working at his computer. I talked with him for a
while. He said, "My computer has a virus in it. I lost a lot of
book-keeping files. It took out the main track in the hard disk."

I said, "That‘s bad. Have you found the trouble?"

"Tt was 1in a program I was using. I quit using it. A friend

has it, and is trying to find the trouble. I’'m not saving any-
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thing on the hard disk now. I’m retrieving some of the files on
it, transferring them to floppy disks."

He hasn’‘t had time to send the manual to Ann. Betsy gave him
Ann’s address. He thinks he will send her the whole parcel of
books he has for the Kaypro. I never heard him say what happened
to his Kaypro, but once, when we were talking, he said, "since it
broke down."

I asked him about sending me the WordStar program. It seems
to me that when we first talked about the new one, he said that
it was on 3 1/2 inch disks. Now he said, "It’s on standard disks,
5 1/4."

"I thought it was on 3 1/2 inch disks. That’s what I use."

"I711 check to see. It will take a while to get WordStar
ready to mail. It’s on five disks." There must be a lot more to
it than the old program.

With all the work he has to do on his book keeping, and his
worry about the computer, I doubt that he will ever send me the
program. Now I see in the BYTE magazine that the latest WordStar
is on twelve disks. ‘It is more cumbersome to run because it is
designed for Laser printers.

I had a call from the secretary of the school board. They
are having a meeting tonight about the school budget.

I said, "I'm snowed in. I cant make it." She was surprised.

I told her I was Okay, and had a good supply of groceries.

20
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I had another call. It was from Carl’s brother, Dick. He
wanted to know how things were with me. He didn‘t know that Carl
was back. He wasn’t surprised that things at Ajo didn’t turn out
the way Carl had hoped.

"If you ever need anything, let me know. Tell Carl to call
collect if he wants to talk with me."

I worked on the December twenty-ninth, and thirtieth ac-
counts, and have them printed up. Now I have started on the
January eighth, and ninth.

There was two inches of snow last night. It drifted against
the door, but not bad. The low last night was twenty, and the
high today was thirty-three.

At one-thirty I walked out to the point and down the hill a
short distance. I wore my big overcoat with the hood up and
wasn’t too warm, because there was a strong wind blowing, and a
misty snow peppering me.

I looked down at the Bronco with the field glasses. The cold
wind made me hope that Tuesday would be a better day when I go
down for the mail. Maybe I’1l1 tie a scarf over the hood to keep
it in place. I need a ski mask with the wind blowing like it

does.
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24th

On the weather net I contacted Ellis. He said that the Burns
radio reported a minus seventeen last night, and that it was the
coldest place in the nation.

The low here was a plus eight, and at eight o’clock it was
eleven. The water spraying from the cracked faucet of the hydrant
is making some unique ice patterns.

I called Computerland this morning, and asked for Joel. He
came to the phone. I said, "This is Jim Weston down on the Steens
Mountain."

He said, "Glad to hear from you. How are you doing?"

"I’m doing fine." Then asked him about hooking up an added
on 5 1/4 inch drive onto the System 2, Model 30 computer, and how
much work it would entail.

He said, "It needs to be done by an experienced technician.
I’ve done it on a couple." He started to explain how it was do-
ne. Then said, "Wait a minute. You have two 3 1/2 inch drives.
You cant hook on an outside-disk drive without cutting out one of
the 3 1/2 inch drives,"

I said, "I sure wouldn’t to do that.”

"Do you have some 5 1/4 inch disks with something on them
that you want to use?"

"Yes. "



January, 1989 2

"Well, send them over and I’'ll copy them to 3 1/2 inch
disks. No charge."

"Fine. I’11 do that. Thanks for the information."

Now I could mail the order I had made out to the Jade Com-
puter Products. On looking over the order, I found a mistake.
Instead of adding the three dollars for shipping charges, onto
the eight in the bill, I added it onto the six which made the
total $$298 instead of $271.

There were no more order blanks in the flier. So, I made a
copy by hand on a sheet of paper cut to a size that would fit
into a large envelope without folding. I have it ready to mail,
but not sealed.

I talked with Ellis this afternoon. He said that Florence
called to tell him that the doctor told him that John could go
home. "I’m going to get Florence, and we’ll go up and bring him
home. I’ll talk to you tomorrow to let you know how we make
out."

When I went up to read the power meter late this evening, I
had to use a shovel to cut foot holds in the ice-covered crusts
of the drifts.

The power bill was the same as last month, $129.12.

From a joke book:- The Devil was stoking up his fires and

making a lot of smoke that went up into Heaven. St. Peter called
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the Devil, "You’d better shape up down there, and clean up your
operation. There’s too much pollution. If you don’t, I’11 have
to sue you."

The Devil asked, "Where are you going to get a lawyer?"
25th

The temperatures are still low, but warmer than yesterday.
It is clear and calm. The barometer went up to 30.86. The
weatherman in Boise says the high pressure is shunting any stormy
weather, coming in from the ocean, to the north of us.

Ellis called for me on the second session of the net this
evening. They brought John home yesterday. When he parked in the
driveway in front of the garage, Florence got out and walked ar-
ound to the kitchen entrance. They aren’t using the front door
because of icy conditions on the steps. He carried John’s things
around to the kitchen, then came back to help John. John had got-
ten out of the pickup, climbed over the drift, and was half way
to the kitchen door. It always worries Florence and Ellis when
John walks by himself.

At mail time I started out to the Bronco, and saw Carl com-
ing down this way. When we met, he said, "I was at the hot
springs when the mail came. I brought it up, driving the four-

wheel-drive pickup. Made it without any trouble."
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I said, "I have to go out to the Bronco, because I left a
letter in it that I want to mail."™ It was the letter that I had
intended to mail Monday, but Martin hadn’t left the mail sack. We
went on out to the Bronco.

Carl said that he thought he could see some deer on the oth-
er side of Indian Creek. I put the letter to the Holy-Rosary-
Medical center into the mail sack. Then looked over the order and
the check to the Jade-Computer-Products Company to see if there
were any mistakes. Finding none, I tried to seal the envelope,
but the glue on the flap wouldn’t hold good. I said to cCarl,
"I’1l have to take it down to the house and put some glue on it."

He was still looking to see if what he saw were deer or not.
I got the binoculars out of the Bronco, and handed them to him.
He said, "I can see them good now. There are a lot of them."

He gave me the glasses. I could see them scattered all over
the hillside. Then I saw a black spot that looked strange, and I
couldn’t tell what it was. I gave him the glasses and told him
where to look. He said, "That must be a black deer. Once in a
while you see one."

I looked at it with the glasses again. It didn’t look like a
deer to me. Then to the right of it I saw a deer move. The dark
spot disappeared. I said, "That dark spot is the shadow of a deer
on the rocks. A deer just to the right of it moved. The dark spot

is gone."
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He looked at it again with the glasses. He said, "No. The

spot is still

I looked

there. I cant see a deer to the right of it."

again. The spot was there, and I couldn’t tell if

there was a deer to the right or not. A deer could blend into the

background so
I said,

I get you som

as to be indistinct.

"By the way, I have to go to the bank tomorrow. Can

ething, or would you like to go with me? I know one

thing you need, and that’s bread."

He said,
could go in."
I told &
that eight o
mailbox. He s
not get up ea
I gave h
ter in it, an
row. He went
I came ¢
Elizarras. I
into one of t

I have a

I nearly

said,

"I really don’t need anything else, but I guess I
1im that we didn’t have to get too early a start,
clock would be all right. We agreed to meet at the
"If I'm not there don’t wait for me. I might
riy enough."

im the mail sack with the letter to the Medical Cen-
d told him I could mail the other one in town tomor-
off down the hill in his pickup.

lown here, and wrote a letter to Bob and Virginia
made out the power bill, and put it with a check
heir envelopes ready to mail.

rather skimpy grocery list.

forgot about the UPS package that Carl brought up.
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It was from Bob and Virginia Vogel of Talent. It was a late
Christmas present, because three of their close friends were
sick, each in a different hospital. They were so busy they got
behind in their Christmas mailing. One of their friends died.

They were here last in September, and I gave them some pe-
aches. It is hard to place them. But I remember that Bob was in-
terested in computers. I don’t remember Mark and Derel McKenzie,
the two people who were with them. They have been pruning their
raspberries and small orchard.

She said that if I ever got over to the Rogue Valley to stop
and see them. So, that’s where Talent is.

In the box there was some peanut brittle, and some kind of
cinninamon roll. My teeth couldn’t handle the peanut brittle, and
the roll was too sticky and tough for me.

Today I sorted rocks out of some wheat, and ground the
wheat, and made some whole-wheat muffins.

Here’s another one from the joke book:- A Texan was visiting
a friend in New York. The friend took him up to the top of the
Empire-State Building. The friend said, "Isn’t this something.
You don‘t have anything like this in Texas."

The Texan said, with a smirk, "We’ve got outhouses taller
than this."

The friend said, "And you sure need them."
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Visitor in New York to friend, "Boy! You sure have clear
skies."

New Yorker, "Yes. We’ve got skyscrapers."
26th

I didn’t sleep very good last night, and at five-thirty I
was ready to get up. I made short work of getting breakfast, and
shaving. I had oatmeal, toast, a fried egg, and a cup of coffee.
The coffee was to keep me awake on the way to town.

I got everything I wanted to take with me into a small-
plastic bucket to carry out to the Bronco. I had a thermos of hot
water, a jug one quarter full of cold water, two muffins in a
Ziploc bag, the bank books, and the three letters to mail.

I was ready to go at six-thirty. I had planned to leave an
hour early from the point so that I would be down at our meeting
place before Carl took the notion to come up here early.

I sat down and wrote for a while, then put the bucket out-
side and locked the door. I forgot the cane, but it was too late
to go back inside, and I didn’t really need it anyway.

Out at the Bronco I found a heavy frost all over it. It was
thick on the windows and windshield. I got in and started the
motor. I closed the vent so the air would re-circulate and warm
up the interior faster. It was twelve minutes before I felt any

warmth. I set the bucket of stuff behind the front seat.
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I sat in the doorway to remove my overshoes, which wasn’t an
easy chore sitting in that awkward position. After I had stashed
the overshoes in the back, I sat another ten minutes waiting for
the windshield to clear up. I didn’t turn the heat control to
defrost, because of the crack creeping across the windshield. The
extra heat might cause the crack to travel faster.

Finally I used a paper towel to clear the windshield enough
to drive down the hill. I thought I might just as well be moving
down the hill while the interior was getting warm.

When I came toward the gate, I saw Carl’s Luv Pickup parked
this side of the gate. He saw me coming and was ready to get in
when I stopped. He said, "Our timing was perfect. I Jjust got
here. I didn’t want to park where the pickup could be seen from
the county road. Beryl might be looking for something to sell for
whisky money."

The county road was in good shape. The ground was frozen, so
there was no mud. We saw a lot of deer on each side of the road
as we passed the Alvord Ranch. There was more snow in the Junip-
er—-Ranch area than there was down by our mailbox. On the highway
the pavement was dry, and going down the west side there were a
few icy spots, but not enough for the need to slow down.

We got into Burns before ten which seemed early, but then we

had started earlier than we had planned.
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We drove on through Burns to Hines to visit Ellis. At Ellis’
the only place to park off the street was in his driveway leading
to the garage. I didn’t turn sharp enough to go straight in, but
stopped at an angle. We weren’t sure Ellis was home, so Carl got
out first and went and knocked on the door. After a short wait he
motioned me to come on down.

Ellis had been busy with his vacuum cleaner. He said, "You
got here earlier than I expected. I thought I would have the
place all cleaned up."

He and Carl began talking about their respective trips to
Arizona. I didn’t have anything to say until a lull in the con-
versation gave me a chance to ask Ellis how he made out with the
insurance company on the damage to his camper. |

He said, "I got a good settlement on both counts. The first
repair came to only a couple hundred dollars, but the second one
came to over a thousand."

"I only heard about the one."

"aAfter I got it fixed the first time, when I was stopping at
an intersection, someone hit me real hard in the rear. He had
tried to go around me, and clipped my left-rear corner. He ca-
reened across the street and back in front of me, and then rolled
over off the road. His car looked like a total wreck. He wasn’t

hurt. He came up to me and said, ‘I'm sorry. It was my fault. I
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went to sleep.’ I said to him, ‘Your insurance company won’t like
it if you talk like that at the scene of an accident.’ That was
the repair 7job that took such a long time, and kept me off the
air."

Ellis called the Scharffs to see if they were at home, and
to let them know that Carl and I would be over soon.

When I tried to back out into the road, the wheels spun.
Ellis got in front and pushed. I put the Bronco into four-wheel
drive and backed out with Ellis still pushing. I doubt that his
pushing did much good.

We had a good visit with John and Florence. John seemed to
be completely recovered from his fall. They told about the old
days when they first worked at the game refuge.

From there it didn’t take us long to buy our groceries. I
paid by check. I have decided to pay by check whenever possible
in order to keep from accumulating so much small change.

Then we went over to the bank where I transferred $600 from
my savings account to my checking account, and turned in a bunch
of small change amounting to $40.80. Then to the post office to
mail the three letters.

At the service station I paid for the gas by check. Then
asked Don where I could get air for my tires. He said, "Drive
around in back." I parked in back, and got out my pressure gage.

Don brought out the air hose. I checked a tire while Don was

10



January, 1989 11

checking another one. Both tires had thirty pounds. I told him I
carried thirty-two which seemed to be the best for the gravel
road. He put thirty-two pounds in each. He had the same kind of
gage that I had. He wanted us both to check the next tire to see
if they came up with the same pressure, and they did.

Carl talked a lot on the way home. At the tree we had cof-
fee, and bologna and muffin sandwiches.

When we passed the hot springs, we saw Beryl get out of his
pickup and stand beside the door. We discussed the fact that
maybe he couldn’t start his motor and was looking for help. We
didn’t stop, because we were sure he was drunk, and he isn’t a
fit person to be around when he is in such a condition. I said,
"I’11 call Hair when I get home and tell him that it looked like
Beryl needed help.

It was three-thirty when we transferred Carl’s groceries
from the Bronco to his pickup.

When I got to the point I decided to drive down toward the
dugout as far as I could so I wouldn’t have to carry the water
and groceries very far. I was doing pretty good, but got too far
over to the inside, and high centered in the deep snow. It took a
long time to dig out the snow from underneath the Bronco, and
behind the wheels. I finally got traction to back to the point. I
parked the Bronco there and walked down to the dugout to get the

wheelbarrow and a flashlight.

11
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I couldn’t use the flashlight going out, because I needed
both hands to hold the handles of the wheelbarrow. I couldn’t see
ahead very good. I mostly felt my way along. Half way out I stum-
bled on a chunk of dirt by the side of the road. I fell down and
tipped over the wheelbarrow. Using the flashlight I saw that I
was keeping to close to the outer edge of the road. From there on
I did all right.

At the Bronco I loaded the ten one-gallon jugs and the three
sacks of groceries into the wheelbarrow. I was able to place the
flashlight on a bag of groceries in the front so that it gave me
light up ahead. It was slow going. In some stretches there was
ice. I found that, if I walked right along, I would slip. I would
set down the legs quickly to catch myself, and in the process
nearly tip over the wheelbarrow. In these places I would travel
like an inchworm, getting good footing I would push the wheelbar-
row ahead without moving my feet, then set the legs down. Now
without moving the wheelbarrow I would move my feet ahead, and
repeat the procedure.

Going over the drift at the furnace room, the wheel would
sink through the crust at times. I would get out in front and
lift the wheel to a solid place. Then move ahead again. I came to
a place where the wheel sank, and in setting the legs down, the

left leg landed on a solid place in the crust, but the right leg

12
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dropped into a hole. Before I could straighten it up, it tipped
over with me with it. One of the bags broke open spilling the
groceries.

I managed to set the wheelbarrow up straight without losing
any of the water, or the two remaining bags of groceries. I set
the flashlight in a safe place and started off the drift at the
end near the dugout. The flashlight fell off. I thought I would
have to stop and go around in front to pick it up. Instead I
moved on passed it and picked it up.

From there on I could see faintly by light coming from the
dugout. There were a few places of slick ice ahead, and a ditch
to cross. These slowed my progress, and it was a relief to wheel
into the dugout. I then went out with a bucket to get the spilled
groceries. I didn’t see them as I climbed up the drift, and kept
on going until I was sure I had gone by them. They were closer to
the end of the drift that I remembered.

Before putting the stuff away, I called Hair’s, and asked
Lavina if Beryl had come home. She didn’t think so. Then I told
her about seeing him at the hot springs, and it looked like he
couldn’t get his pickup started. She would have Carl go up and
rescue him.

I ate dinner and put all the stuff away. I was tired to say
the least.

27th

13
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When I went down to get the mail, I found the road soft and
muddy. There was water running down the wheel tracks

While I was waiting for the mail truck, I saw Carl’s Luv
pickup parked by the trail that goes to the hot springs. In about
fifteen minutes Martin arrived. I got the mail sack when he
stopped. There wasn’t much mail. One item was the Burns paper. I
was reading it when Carl drove up in front of me.

He got into the Bronco. There was no mail for him. I asked,
"Have you seen anything of Beryl?"

He said that last night, when he was sound asleep, he was
awakened by someone banging on the door. He thought it was Beryl.
He cussed, and called out, "What are you doing banging on the
door this time of night?"

On opening the door he saw that it was Carl Hair. He apolo-
gized for speaking so rough to him. Hair wanted to know where
Beryl was. "I didn’t find him in his truck. I thought he might be
in the bathhouse. I yelled and called for him, but he never an-
swered."

This morning Hair came to Carl’s place, and told him he had
gone back to the hot springs. Two men were about to go over to
the bathhouse. He went with them. They found Beryl lying in the
hot water with just his head sticking out. They had a hard time

waking him up and getting him out of the pool.

14
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Beryl had two flat tires. He had been out on the ice on the
desert, having a lot of fun spinning his pickup on the slick ice.
He had probably run into chunks of ice and damaged the tires.
They went flat after he parked at the hot springs.

Carl Hair towed the pickup home.

I didn’t do much today, and slept quite a bit. Guess I was
still tired from yesterday.

I talked with Ellis on the radio tonight, and told him we
had a good trip home. He plans to go over to the valley next week

to visit his sister and his son, young Ellis.

15
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30th

Well, I got away from the place at 8:18. I thought I
had accomplished everything that needed to be done, but
forgot to put the wheelbarvow inside. I had evervihing that
I wanted to take with me in the Bronce, including a pair of
carpet slippers.

The evening before I had spent two hours with the hose
te get most of the mud that was pasied to the underside of
the vehicle. It was dried on in hard masses. I think a car-
wash would have trouble getting 1t off. 1t was difficult  to
lean ocver and train the nozzle upward on the underside. The
wind didn't make it any easier.

After I got through it took several hours te get re-
laxed.

This morning the mud and water where 1 washed the
Brencoe was frozen. I had moved the Broncoe back cut of  the
mess last night to where it would be dry to de the loading.
Khen I saw 1t frorzen this morning the first thing I did was
to drive 1t forward over the frozen stuff hefere +the sun
made it a sticky mess toc cling to the tires.

The county voad was smcooth, but the surface was covered
with scattered-small-sharp rocks. I drove at 35 miles an
hour, because at higher speeds those sharp vocks could
puncture a tire like nails.

I had to slow down for cattle and deer. There has been
ne werk done on the highway. The pot holes were still there,

but they weren’'t any worse,
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At Burns I went to the Safeway store:; bought bananas,
oranges, preparation H, and a new type of Metamucil, coctiage
cheese, and milk. The new metamucil]l uses one teaspoon  per
dose, while the old type used one tablespoon. I doubt that I
will need to use the preparation H now that the metamucil
works so good.

Mext I went %o the bank and deposited my VA check into
my savings account. Then toc the service station and filled
the tank. 13.46 galleons, %15.00.

There was very little traffic bhetween Hurns and Buchan—
arn. ne bunch of antelope crossed the voad ahead of me.

It was noon when I stopped at the rest area. I ate one
of the biscult-peanut-butter sandwiches with a cup of @milk,
then drank a cup of the new-metamucil mixture. It easier io
swallow than the old type.

While 1 was there several trucks stopped in the furn-—-
out  for them along the side of the highway. Four or five
careg came down intoc the area for cars. One elderly couple
had a little deog that looked to be part terrier. An  odd-
looking vyeoung couple had a boy that I judged to be nine or
ten, and I thought he acted mentally retarded. UdHhen his
fTather went tc the rest room, he got into the driver's seat,
and pretended he was driving.

it was cloudy all the way from Burns to Ontaric. The
curvy voad passed Buchanan didn't bother me as much as it

used +to, probably because there was little traffic. It was
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three—thirty when I got te the metel. After I got all @y
stuff inte the meiel room, I lay down for a rest.

At five o'clock I went for a walk. I theught I would
try to find a cassette recorder. I went intc a mall near
Albertsen's. 1 saw a Sear's store with a =sign saying.
"Everything for less.” I went in, but i1t didn't locok like a
large Sear’'s store. It locochked like a Sear's order store, and
1t was. A girl behind a counter asked if she could help me.
I told her what I wanted. She had nothing like I wanted on
hand, and she could find none in the catalog.

She said, "Fay Less may have one. It's down the hall to
the right. ATter you enter turn to the right. You'll ses a
place called Cameras. I'm sure vou'll find what vou want.”
bhe gave me three sales catalogs.

I said, "Deo vou still sell by catalogs? 1 thought they
were only making sales in stores.”

Bhe said, "NMo. They still use catalegs. 1°11 give vou
an application form for cne.” She gave me one.

I said, "Thank you. I haven't had one of these catalogs
in years.”

I found the cameva place. I could ses behind a counter
shelves radios and cassette plavers. There was ne one behind
the counter, but a girl working at something just behind ae
asked, "Can I help you?’

I said, "I'm locking for a cassetie player.” She showed

me some big seis that were a combination of radic and cas—
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sette players. She had some small ones that used only ear—
phenes.

I s=aid, "It's strange, I haven't bheen able o find a
small cassette recorder and playver, but I have a friend who
has one,; and his wife has one alsc.”

She said, “"0Oh! I have tue brands of small recorders.
One uses veoice ceontrol. It's $44.99, The other vou push a
switch to turn 1t off and on. It's £33.9%9.¢

This was the small recorder I wanted. Apparently she
had thought of them only as recorders and not plavers. I
told her I would take the veoice activated ons, and staried
getting the soney cut of my pocketboolk. She made out  the
bill on the register, $44.9%. I didn't have qguiet encugh
meney. I said, "I'11 have to go back to the motel and get my
checkbook. Will you be able to use the register?”

She said, "Moc. But I will call a man who will ocpen 1t
up and put a step on the sale.”

I said, "I was afraid of that." I headed for the Mall.
at the door 1 vyealized I had left my glasses on the counter,
and went back for them. She was waiting on ancther customer.
I held up my glasses and said, "1 forgot my glasses.” 1
couldn’t tell 1f she heard me or not.

When 1 got back, she had a box ready with the recorder
in 1t. I made out a check to Fay Less. She toock the check
and lecked 1t over. "Do you have a driver's license, or

something for identification®®
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I =aid, "Oh, ves I do.” I geot it out and handed it %o
her. "Does the picture loock like me?®

She said, "Yes." Then copied the number onte the check:
gave me a receipt from the register, and put the box intos =
paper sack.

She =aid, "Have a good evening.”

I said, "You too.”

I've forgotten to say that when I first got back I
asked her 1f she had heard the fire engines going by. She
said, "No. I never hear anything cutside in here.”

I =aid, "That's the way it is where I live. I'm up on
the side of a mountain away from evervthing.”

She saild, "That's a good place to he."

I tolid her that I came to Ontaric to get a2 prescription
for glasses from Dr. Fitis.

She =aid, "He's the best.®

All  the time, of course, she was busy. I wondered how
much my talking interfered with her work, and I feilt a
little uneasy with myself. I'm not in the habit of falking
while someone is dtrving to get work done. In a store like
Pay lLess the help don't have time to carry on a conversation
with every one.

Back at the motel I ate a bite, and listened to Cheers.
The TV set is on a bracket high above the dressing table,
but not high encugh to clsar my head. Several times I bumped
my head on 1t. I would lean cver the table to get scmething.

The TV was ocut of my eyesight,. and I would bump oy head.
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talked to Hair Frassd
oyavel te put on my voad up the hill. tha

time to start would be in September when the weather

would be cool. Bo in the middle of September  he
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from the mail box. He had to back down and dump the Iload

between the county road and the Rill

The Tallure of the rear axls o shift intc low  rangs
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wrong  with  the meoter that actuates the shift lever, but
at ey installing a2 new one 1t =111 wouldn't go into  low

range. He was up a stump, and wondered 1Y he should buy

tand dump truck, or try te get

tixed. He did lock arcund for another truck, but good used

at a reascnable price were hard to come by,
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Hair was under the impression that Jim would have the
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to tow the old i, with Thomas steering 1t. back homs

A
0

gt
1

would drive Hairs
Jim wasn't home. His wife said that he had gones to bown

Tor parts. We thought she meant parts for the dump truck. We
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work shop. There was a space heater going, and
the place was real warm. He saw that Jim had been working on

the gears, and we saw the broken gears, and the gear assem—

bly of the old Ford. We wondered what kind of parts he want

Halry decided to ge on in o Burns to get some  grocer—

igs.  After doing the shopping, (Thomas and I alse hbought
some grocevies! Halv wantesd to locok arcund some more for a

vsed  dump  truck. He drove up the west side of  the Gilv:l
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River. I had never besn up that way and the amount of Fara
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land 1n the area swprised me. HWe did see thres dump  trucks
on different ranches. Halr made ingulives. No one had any for

sale. We finally got back o Jim's place
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te  town o get were Tor a2 furnace he was installing in  the

WcuUse .. Anyway, he said that the gearse from the pickup  would
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would be slower in low range, and it would give it more
power.  That suited Halr Tine, because he nesded mo DowWer
toe get up my hill.,

Jim said that as scon as he got the furnacs installed
he would go to work on Hair's ftruck. It wouldn't  take him
meve than Tive hours to do the job. He said, “I1'11 let  vou
krow when it's ready.”

gefore we left Jim showed Halr a drailer hiidtch  that
would esnable Hair to tow the pickup with  the dump fruck
without the nsed of an extra driver. Thus I would drive Hair
up there in the Hronco,. and we wouldn't need Thomas who  was

ternding to take off to the scuth for the winter.

We  came on home. Haly dropped Thomas and me off at
Thomas'® place where I had left the Broneeo. I drove 1% up
here.

A week went by, and there was no word from  Jim. I
called Hairv and told him I would call Jim. I said, "Mavhe he
is dead.”

I phoned Jim several times, but there was no  answer.
Finally Jim answered,. and, when I asked him how  the Sruc)
wnas, he said, "It's ready to go.®

I tcld him that called several times during the day.
and was aftraild something had happensd te hism. He said, I
was in Burns and came back to get some things. and was res
Yo leave again. You ghorned just at the vight tims.”
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That was on a Mo
box area. He parkesd hi

%

Then we drove out

owed him,. Jim said,

hundred and seventy—Ffive." Carl

zeventy—five and a hu

4

nday . Tuesday I met Halr at the mail-

s car there, and got into the Bronco.
im's place. Hair Jim how such he
"dust what I agreed te fix it for: one-

gave him the one-hundred and
ndred extra,. because he knew that 1%

took move work than Jim had expected it to take. Jim  pro-
tested, but finally tock the extra monev.

When Hair started lococking for the trailer hitch., Jim
zald, "You can leave the old pickup here, and 1°'11 sss iFf I
can get vig of 1t for you.” Hailr thought that would he fine:
he wouldn't have to tow it home. I was going to go  into
Burns  to buy groceries and other supplies. He said, "Take
yvoeur time. 1711 bhe driving slow.?

I waited to see if he got on his way all right before I
ook off to Burns. Tt toock me about an hour fo do all my
shopping. I thought of what Hair had said about  taking @y
time, and realized that i¥ I hadn't spent any time at all in

Burns  he would have such a head start I couldn't possibly
catch up with him. He probably would leave his fre at the
gravel pilt where he had plarmed te meet me. Then., since I
was  so far behind, he would walk down to the mail-box  arves
te get his car. Then go to Thomas'® place to gst the loader
that he had left theres.

I passed the gravel pit without seeing him. When I
tuwrned off the county yoad at oy 11 box, I saw a panesl




vou couid call
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VETY Sam

for an intrud

but wondevred

Tho had. Hair th

Mma=s

tool box, bult he cou

home to gest a kev.”
When we got ont

of wus, going the sa

Scon 1t stopped. s

Bervl's pickup.”

I =z=topped when
driving., and there
asked Beryl 17 he ne

axle up on blocks. I didn't sese Hairs'®
was talking to the guy with the pansl
them and hesard Halr say, "I don'i =se
vourselves responsible peocple when  you
¥
"The keys were in the car. We had  fwo
aftraid we would bhe here all dav. So  we
ields to have the tirves fixed.?
the Bronco, and I drowve him  te Thomas'®
der . Thomas had fastenesd his gate with a

plicated way, which would make it wunin—

2y to try to cpen it. We got 1t open all
iT we coculd fasten it back  the same way
ought he had the key to the locader in &
lgan't find it. He said, "I'11 have to go

S we headed fTor

his place.

o the county yoad, I =aw guite way ahead
mE way wWe Wers, a pickup moving slowly.
we came closer to Hair  said, *That's
wE came up along side of it. Hervl was
wazs ancther guy in there with him. Haivr
gded any help. Heryl said, “"No.®
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The guy with him said, "I'm the one whao took yvour  car
I'm sorry. I shouldn’t have done that.” It was =z mystery to
me why he was with Bervl.

He drove on, and just passed Andrews we ran  intc  a
cattle drive. Mike and Dan were moving cattle scuth. ke lost
time getting through the herd. When we got to Hair's place,
Mike was acvess the road cpening a gate to the Eueny Ranch.

I could =see that they were going to turn  the catile

ot
e~

there.

Lavina met us at the door. She said that the guy with
the tives stopped in with Halrs' car. Beryl happened to  be
cut side. He talked with the guy. He =aid, "We'd better get
that car back up there, because dad will need it. I'11 fake
you with the tires to Fields later.®

Weall, I guess that, when we were in at the Thomas'
place., Beryl and the guy had passed going north taking
Hairs® car  back. Then had headed for Fields in Bervyl's
pickup. 1 =still wondered why they were stopped when we
passed them.

I figured there was no hwrry to start back. The cattle

would bhe off the road

Pl
w
)
m

wairted a whiles.

Lavina said that the guy told her the kevs were in  the

CAar . "I've told yvou before not to lesave vour kevs in the

Hailr pulled the car keyvs out of his pocket, saving,

Here's my car kevs. I didn't leaves them in the car.®
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As  we turned ontoe the county voad on the wavy back the
last cow was going through the gate into the Hueny Ranch. e
drove to  Thomas' place, and, when I saw  that Hair  had
gotiten  the locader arted all right, I drove the Braonco  to
the gravel pit. It wasn't very long befTore he arvived with
the loader. It traveled on the reoad faster than [ thought it
couid.

Then I drove Halr back %o the mail-box area wherse he
got into the dump truck., and went back to the gravel pit Lo
get a load of gravel. I headed up the hill with my grocer

ies. At the dugout before I could get all the stuff inside.
Hair arvived with a load of gravel and dumps it at  the
point  coming toward the dugout. Before he guit Ffor the davy
he dumped twoe sove leoads on the way te the dugout.

The next day, the twenty—first of November., I went o
the dermatolsgist in Ontaric, and had some pre-cancerous
tumors  vemoved with nitrogen gas. I staid over night at &
motel and came back on the twentv-sscond.

I got an sarly start cut of Ontaric, s had plenty of
time to shop for supplies in Burns. I was in no hurry to gst
home, because I wanted to give Hair time to  haul gravel
before 1 arvvived. That way I would be able o ses  how
much  gravel he had hauled that dav. I got o the nail box
arcund four ofclock.

When 1 pulled off the county road, I saw  two  pickups

td

prepared to camp
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3y

there for a8 while. Haij

1]
ot
i
i
[
=
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n
ke

with a load of gravel was
standing beside the road.

Twi  guys were working on a motoroyole, tuning up  the

e

moter. I stopped, got ocut, went over and asked them wihvy Haiv
had left the load of gravel there. They didn’'t know because

they weren't there when he left it.

bt
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py
m
{“ i
]
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o
y
m
5”
i
m

tvracks of the truck and saw that he had backsd down the hRill
and off to the side of the read, and left it there. [ won—
dered why.

Up  at the top I found that he had dumped ancther loa

[N

closeyr to the dugout at a place where I had told weuld be
tar encugh. Then he had dumped four loade down from  the
point ftoward the curve at the bhottom.

I called him on the phone. He said that he couldn't get
up  that firet hill because the motor stalled. It wasn't
getting encugh gas. He cleaned the gas filter, but that

didn't  help. He thought the trouble might bs in  the fusl

pump, and would go to fown and get a new one, and a new gas

i

filter. The next day was Thanksgiving so he had to  wail

P

until  Friday. Saturday he put in the new fuel pump and the
new gas Tilter, but that didn't help.

Hell, he deesn't work on Sunday. Monday, when I went

atter the mail the truck lcaded with gravel was parked this
side of the gate. Back up at the dugout I talked with him on
the phone. He said that he got up the first hill., but  ths

moetor  stalled on the second hill, and he backed down and
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He =aid, "I think scmething must be plugging the gas
line. 1 think I'11 drive the truck down here and take the

gas  line off at the fuel pump and blow air back up the

I said, "You could dump the load of gravel on your  way
down  the hill: & good place would be near the gate there

scmexwhere.” There was so such noise on the phone line

=

didn’t hear what he said he

Y

ias going to do about the load.

53

tar

Ui

The next morning I - gd for a walk, and as nesared

the peint I saw Halr with the dump truck arvive at the top.

He twurned the truck arcund toe go down the hill to dump  the

load. When he saw me coming he stopped and got out. I

~
i
T
bt
-
2

“Boy! You made 1t OO

He said, "I zure did. This is oy third load.®

I asked, "Hhat did vou find wrong with the gas lins?®

He said, "1 drove the loaded bruck home. Then apsned
the line at the fuel pump. Then agct resady fo blow air back
up the line. I teock the gas cap off the tank, and gas gushed
out  of the line. The line must have somehow got  unpluggsd
Anyway . I came up here without any trouble.”

It was almost noon. He sald, “Would you like fte vide
with me while I got ancther Ilgad?®

I said,. RHell, I've got 2 1ot of work to do, so  I5d
better noct.”

Later 1 walked down the hill to ses how he was doing.

At the curve the road had gobtten wet and saft fraom  the
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oo
pers

used to  crank the big diessel. Scon we heard +the DopoDing
scund  of  the gas engine. and then the deen rumble of the
Lavina said that he would make a pass down the road an

back. He could tell by the scund when he started down  the

i

hill. It didn't seem very leong before he was back up to bhe

s

point. He parked the grader ouk there, and drave the diessl
cay down here to get Lavina.
1 asked him how many loads it tock. He said eighty—

id for. Sa I

i

eight. That was esight more than I had already p
cwed him forty dollars. He said he didn'd charge for  the

grader waork,

o

I said, "By gosh, after 31l the delays and trouble, vou

t done before the had weather set in, ®

L]
]
e
s

He said, "It's & good thing the ring gear he put in
gave me aore powey . Without it I couldn't have hauled full

1

W]

ads.”

o

The ne2xxt mai I

et

i3]
i
s
P
1

vy I drove down to their place to vi
and Tinish payving him. I gave him a hundred dollars. He

didn't want to take that much: forty dollars was enough . 1

said. TWell, you had a let of extra woerk o do and

expenses. You deserve a little extra.”

He

it

T o
H
&

ool
Yot

ald, "Mexit spring, when the weather is goad,
put  a ceuple of loads on the firet Rill that wou s=ay gshs

had some bimes,
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